Harassment Prevention and Response: An Overview of Current Policy, Training, and Intervention Approaches



CAPT Delmy M. Robinson, USN, MBA Commandant

Daniel P. McDonald, PhD² **Director**

MAJ Roshonda Gilmore, USA, MBA^{2,3} **Department Head**

Dr. Richard Oliver Hope Human Relations Research Center Defense Equal Opportunity Management Institute

366 Tuskegee Airmen Drive, Patrick Space Force Base, FL 32925

- JHT Inc.
- 2. Dr. Richard Oliver Hope Human Relations Research Center, DEOMI
- 3. Applied Science & Analytics, DEOMI

The opinions expressed in this report are those of the author and readers should not construe this report to represent the official position of the U.S. military services, the Department of Defense, or DEOMI.

Prepared byCourtney Howell, PhD¹
Katie Blair, MS¹ LT Jayson Rhoton, USN, PhD 2,3

Contributions from

J. Dillon Caldwell, PhD³ Courtney Burns, MA¹
Tiffany Lemmo, BS¹

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Overview	5
Harassment Policy Mandates and Definitions	5
Policy Mandates	5
Definitions of Harassment	6
Federal Law	6
Common Definitions in Industry	7
Military Definition	8
Types of Harassment	9
Discriminatory Harassment	9
Sexual Harassment	10
Hazing	12
Bullying	14
Stalking	15
Harassment Response	16
Response Considerations Per Branch	16
Air Force	17
Army	17
Coast Guard	17
Marine Corps	18
Navy	18
Impact on Targets	18
Impacts on the Organization	19
Harassment Prevention	20
Prevention Models and Bystander Considerations	20
Civilian Bystander Considerations	21
Military Bystander Training and Considerations	23
Best Practices in Industry	25
Considerations for Preventing Harassment in the Military	26
Training And Intervention Strategies	28
References	32
Appendix: Interventions	45

Green Dot Bystander Training (Edwards, n.d.; Vector Solutions, 2021)	45
Scenarios for Different Types of Harassment	45
Discriminatory Harassment	46
Sexual Harassment	46
Hazing	47
Bullying	47
Stalking	48
Other Concerning Behavior	49
Practicing Inclusive Leadership at the Top	49
Discussion	49
Scenarios	50

Overview

The United States Department of Defense (DoD) prohibits harassment in the Armed Forces, as it "jeopardizes combat readiness and mission accomplishment, weakens trust within the ranks, and erodes unit cohesion" (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, 2020a, p. 3). This paper outlines the requirements for harassment and prevention as mandated by the Federal Government and DoD, as well as provides information about prevention and response to address the issue.

Harassment Policy Mandates and Definitions

Harassment can be understood as a discriminatory practice that violates several U.S. laws, including the 1964 Civil Rights Act (Becton et al., 2017). This section covers the policy mandates that necessitate harassment and prevention training within the DoD, a variety of definitions for the term from different perspectives, the types of harassment that have been defined by the DoD, and information on the impacts of harassment in both the civilian sphere and the Military.

Policy Mandates

DoD Instruction (DoDI) 1020.03 (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, 2020a), *Harassment prevention and response in the Armed Forces*, requires training for harassment response and prevention, including knowledge on the definitions of the terms and proper response as well as preventative measures. Additionally, DoDI 1020.03 states that it will "hold leaders at all levels appropriately accountable for fostering a climate of inclusion that supports diversity, is free from harassment, and does not tolerate retaliation against those filing harassment complaints" (p. 3). DoDI 1020.04, *Harassment prevention and response*

for DoD civilian employees, further extends the policy mandate to civilian employees, stating, "the conduct prohibited by this policy includes, but is broader than, the legal definitions of harassment and sexual harassment" (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, 2020b, p. 7). According to these policies, harassment might be an isolated incident or prolonged behavior.

Definitions of Harassment

Federal Law

Harassment law outside the workplace varies from state to state. For example, Statute S240.25 in New York states, "a person is guilty of harassment in the first degree when he or she intentionally and repeatedly harasses another person by following such person in or about a public place or places or by engaging in a course of conduct or by repeatedly committing acts which places such person in reasonable fear of physical injury" (USLegal, n.d.). Each state has its own variation of requirements that usually follow the "reasonable person" standard, which asks juries or law enforcement to determine how a reasonable person would feel about such behavior. Criminal harassment cases being pursued under U.S. law are subject to state guidelines and sentencing procedures.

Workplace harassment, however, is prohibited under several Federal acts, including: Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Age Discrimination and Employment Act of 1967, and the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (Equal Employment Opportunity Commission [EEOC], n.d.). Under those protections, harassment is "unwelcome conduct that is based on race, color, religion, sex (including sexual orientation, gender identity, or pregnancy), national origin, older age (beginning at age 40), disability, or genetic information (including family medical history)" (EEOC, n.d.). The violation of Federal law supersedes any state law, meaning that anyone can

file a workplace harassment claim with the Federal Agency, the EEOC, and request an investigation, a protection that does not exist for criminal harassment cases. For such behavior to be unlawful, two conditions must be met: 1) The person being harassed is negatively impacted in their daily work, and 2) the behavior is pervasive or severe and creates an environment that a reasonable person would find hostile, intimidating, or abusive (EEOC, n.d.).

Common Definitions in Industry

Any institution with U.S. employees is required to comply with the workplace guidelines established by Federal law. As such, most organizations utilize similar language for their own policies. However, organizations may add additional components to their own company harassment policies. For example, Wells Fargo (2022) includes hairstyles or hair texture as well as veteran status in their protections against harassment. They also explicitly state that their policy is broader than legal standards, meaning that they can sanction employees for behaviors even if the legal threshold for harassment is not met (Wells Fargo, 2022). Similarly, Google (n.d.) states that behaviors conducted outside of the workplace may be subject to company scrutiny if it impacts the workplace, such as an employee stalking another employee or unwelcomed conversations after the work day. As such, there is precedence for workplace harassment to occur outside of the physical workplace. The Department of Defense employs language that allows for harassment reports outside of the physical workplace, using the language "including off-duty or 'unofficial' unit functions and settings" in the definition of bullving (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, 2020a, p. 20).

Military Definition

DoDI 1020.03 defines harassment as "behavior that is unwelcome or offensive to a reasonable person, whether oral, written, or physical, that creates an intimidating, hostile, or offensive environment" (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, 2020a, p. 20). It can include actions such as:

Offensive jokes, epithets, ridicule or mockery, insults or put-downs, displays of offensive objects or imagery, stereotyping, intimidating acts, veiled threats of violence, threatening or provoking remarks, racial or other slurs, derogatory remarks about a person's accent, or displays of racially offensive symbols. (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, 2020a, p. 10)

As part of DoDI 1020.04, which includes protections for civilians, unwanted physical contact, hazing, and bullying are listed as types of harassment, whereas DoDI 1020.03 mentions hazing and bullying as types of harassment. Harassment, as defined by DoDI 1020.03 and 1020.04, can occur in or across multiple settings, such as in person, electronic communication, or social media. Similar to EEOC definitions, behavior must adversely impact the work environment in order to be considered harassment; rude, ignorant, or unkind behavior alone does not constitute harassment (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, 2020b). Further, DoDI 1020.03 specifically states that harassment is prohibited in all environments, including off-duty and unofficial settings. The definition of harassment in the DoD is broader than what is outlined in Federal legislation, as it applies to any setting. The decision to incorporate a broader definition should allow leaders to respond to incidents that would not be considered harassment under Federal law statutes.

Types of Harassment

DoDI 1020.03 identifies and describes several basic categories of harassment including: discriminatory harassment, sexual harassment, hazing, bullying, and stalking. Each type of harassment must create an intimidating, hostile, or offensive environment for the target and can occur across multiple contexts, including writing, in-person, or electronic communication (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, 2020a). This section further defines each category and provides information regarding reported incidence. For each type of harassment, information is also provided related to prevalence and impact of that form of harassment in the civilian world. Workplace harassment is an issue that impacts employees across the board, so important lessons can be learned from both knowledge and awareness of the bigger picture.

Discriminatory Harassment

DoDI 1020.03 defines discriminatory harassment as "a form of harassment that is unwelcome conduct based on race, color, national origin, religion, sex (including pregnancy), gender-identity or sexual orientation" (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, 2020a, p. 20). Service members who identify as lesbian, gay, or bisexual are at an elevated risk of sexual harassment, stalking, and sexual assault during their time in the Armed Forces; this is especially true for gay men, who are at an increased risk of discriminatory harassment (Schuyler et al., 2020). Schuyler et al. (2020) suggest the increased risk could stem from the masculine ideals that dominate the culture of the Military and the fact that gay men may not fit into the mold. However, sexual minorities (especially gay men) are at a greater risk of harassment in the general population as well, according to a 2018 study of U.S. individuals, so the reason behind elevated harassment numbers may be more nuanced (Raj et al., 2021).

Certain populations may be at a higher risk of discrimination and harassment. For example, according to Sears et al. (2021), 37.7% of LGBT employees reported experiencing harassment at work at some point in their lives. Transgender employees reported higher rates of verbal harassment, 43%, than their cisgender LBGT colleagues, 29% (Sears et al., 2021). LGBT respondents in that study reported hiding their identities or leaving their jobs to avoid such environments (Sears et al., 2021). Further, LBGT employees of color were more likely to face verbal harassment, 35%, than White LBGT employees, 25% (Sears et al., 2021). One in four Black employees and one in four Hispanic employees in a recent survey reported experiencing discrimation in the workplace attributed to race, compared to 15% of White employees (Lloyd, 2021); although discrimination and harassment are not the same, repeated discriminatory acts against individuals or groups can lead to a hostile environment and be considered harassment.

Sexual Harassment

Sexual harassment "involves unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and deliberate or repeated offensive comments or gestures of a sexual nature" (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, 2020a, p. 22). Specifically, such conduct either involves a power dynamic wherein rejecting such advances might adversely impact an individual's career path or job security or interferes with one's job performance and contributes to a hostile work environment (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, 2020a). There is no need to show evidence of physical or psychological distress as a result; rather, any behavior that creates a hostile work environment related to sexual advances is considered to be sexual harassment (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, 2020a).

In a study of law enforcement officials, 71% of female officers experienced harassment and assault (Taylor et al., 2022). However, 41% of men in the same study reported experiencing harassment and assault, which is approximately 15% higher than the general population (Taylor et al., 2022). According to a study completed with 2018 data of active Service members, 24% of women in the Service experienced harassment, with 27% of them being non-Hispanic White women and 17% identifying as Black (Breslin et al., 2022). The most common forms of harassment reported were sexual jokes, being solicited for an unwanted relationship repeatedly, and hearing sexual comments about their bodies; importantly, over 75% of the time, these were not one-time occurrences but were consistently experienced (Breslin et al., 2022). Further, sexual harassment does not occur in a vacuum; a study using 2002 data found that 76% of women who experienced sexual harassment also experienced sex discrimination and workplace aggression (Larsen et al., 2019).

According to the EEOC, there was a 13.6% increase in the reports submitted from FY17 to FY18 following the #MeToo movement in October of 2017 (EEOC, 2022). Additionally, there were 7,609 sexual harassment charges filed in 2021 (EEOC, 2022). Sexual harassment complaints are filed predominantly by women, with 78% of complaints from FY18 to FY21 filed by women (EEOC, 2022). It is likely that race and gender interact in predicting who will be targets of sexual harassment. Cassino and Besen-Cassino (2019) examined EEOC data from 1997-2017 and found that African American women have "become increasingly more likely to report sexual harassment than white women" (p. 1235). A recent study of white-collar workers found that 43% of men and 30% of women admitted to "making sexual comments, jokes, gestures, or looks about someone" a few times in the past year, which could constitute as harassment depending on the context, severity, and frequency (Hardies, 2019, p. 3). A recent

qualitative study of women in the workplace found that many women talked about sexual harassment as part of the culture and something they just had to live with (Spiliopoulou & Witcomb, 2022).

Hazing

The Department of Defense (DoD) defines hazing as:

A form of harassment that includes conduct through which Service members or DoD employees, without proper military or other governmental purpose, but with a nexus to Military Service, physically or psychologically injure or create a risk of physical or psychological injury to Service members for the purpose of initiation into, admission into, affiliation with, change in status or position within, or continued membership in any military DoD civil organization. (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, 2020a, p. 20)

Examples include "oral or written berating of another person to belittle or humiliate; playing abusive or malicious tricks; encouraging another person to engage in illegal, harmful, demeaning, or dangerous acts" (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, 2020a, p. 21). Hazing can include physical, verbal, psychological, written, or non-verbal behaviors; documented hazing behavior in the U.S. Military includes forcing members into industrial dryers or inducing chemical burns by forcing members to be in close proximity to dangerous chemicals (Hodge Seck, 2021).

A 2019 study found that 17% of military members reported experiencing hazing, and that military members who have been hazed are at a higher risk for anger and depression, as well as higher risk of suicidal ideation (Kim et al., 2019). Further data from a 2018 report showed the majority of hazing complaints, over 90%, come from the Marine Corps; however, it is possible

that the discrepancy comes from under-reporting in the other branches (Hodge Seck, 2021). In February 2018, the DoD issued a report addressing hazing prevention and response in the Armed Forces, outlining the need-based motivation for hazing prevention regarding its negative impact on mission readiness. The report reflects on hazing as "an affront to department values," acknowledging that the act of hazing violates basic human dignity and adversely affects unit trust and cohesion among Service members. These weaknesses in unity jeopardize combat readiness and inhibit mission accomplishment (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, 2020a). A recent Office of People Analytics (OPA) report noted that similar perspectives of hazing were observed. Commander focus groups reported that hazing escalated the severity of existing troublesome behavior. These behaviors were linked to poor perceptions of leadership, low morale, increased risk for sexual assault, and higher intention to leave military Service (Clare et al., 2021).

Hazing is not unique to the Military. Indeed, hazing is ubiquitous in many college and university organizations. For example, Allan and Madden (2012) found that over half of students involved in formal student organizations, e.g., fraternities, sororities, bands, athletics, had experienced some form of hazing. College students who participated in hazing justified the practice by appealing to their loyalty to the organization and that such loyalty justifies behaviors that test the loyalty of others (Alexander & Opsal, 2021). This justification was used by 100% of ROTC and fraternity members in the study (Alexander & Opsal, 2021). However, hazing is not unique to college campuses; it can happen in the workplace as well. Although research on the prevalence of hazing in the workplace is scarce, it is believed that anywhere from 25-75% of workers in the U.S. experience workplace hazing at some point (B. J. Thomas et al., 2021). Workplace hazing might include derogatory nicknames, unnecessary physical tasks unrelated to

work, or task-based hazing where newcomers are made to do work below their pay grade or not allowed to take breaks (B. J. Thomas et al., 2021).

Bullying

The Department of Defense defines bullying as:

A form of harassment that includes acts of aggression by Service members or DoD civilian employees, with a nexus to military service, with the intent of harming a Service member either physically or psychologically, without a proper military or other governmental purpose. (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, 2020a, p. 19)

Bullying often involves a power differential and includes behaviors such as: physically hurting another, teasing or taunting, forced consumption of anything, damaging property, and causing bodily harm (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, 2020a. A comprehensive review of definitions of bullying in the military literature found that a commonly held difference between bullying and hazing is that hazing is meant to promote group cohesion, while bullying is designed to harm or exclude others (Stuart & Szeszeran, 2021). In the literature on bullying in the United States Military, junior ranked individuals and members of minority groups, including gender, religion, race, or sexuality, are shown to be the most at risk of bullying behavior (Stuart & Szeszeran, 2021). In fact, U.S. data gathered by DEOMI indicated that junior enlisted Service members are at 12 times the risk of perceiving bullying than senior officers (Farmer, 2016).

According to Namie (2021), 30% of adults in the United States report experiencing bullying in the workplace, while an additional 19% report having witnessed it happen to others. It is likely that the incidence of bullying depends on the industry. For example, Munro and

Phillips (2020) found that as many as 90% of health care professionals reported witnessing instances of bullying and 60% reported experiencing bullying personally. Although it is unclear why bullying occurs in the workplace, research shows that employees may feel that their organizations only addressed the issue because of financial concerns and high turnover (Salin et al., 2020). There is, however, promising research to show that others in the workplace can be positive bystanders against bullying when given the right information and tools (Ng et al., 2020).

Stalking

DoDI 1020.03 states that stalking is conduct, behavior, or knowledge of such conduct which results in the offender places a target "in reasonable fear of death or bodily harm, including sexual assault, to himself or herself, to a member of his or her immediate family, or to his or her intimate partner" (Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, 2020a, p. 23).

In 2019, about 1.3% (3.4 million) of all persons aged 16 years or older were targets of stalking. Furthermore, women are stalked more than twice as often as men (Morgan & Truman, 2019). Global estimates of between 12-16% of women will be targets of stalking in their lifetime compared to 4-7% of men (Sheridan et al., 2003). Research shows that rates of stalking civilian and military women are similar (Black & Merrick, 2013). A majority of perpetrators are either current or former acquaintances/intimate partners with almost half of targets experiencing at least one unwanted contact per week (Morgan & Truman, 2019). Stalking behavior is often grouped into two categories: traditional stalking, e.g., following and watching, sneaking into a place, or leaving or sending unwanted items, and stalking through the use of technology, e.g., making unwanted phone calls, leaving voice messages or sending texts, spying using technology,

or monitoring activities using social media (Morgan & Truman, 2019). A full list of stalking behaviors can be found in the intervention appendix.

Harassment Response

DoDI 1020.03 outlines the requirements for responding to harassment claims. Sexual harassment allegations (even without sexual assault) require a faster response timeline than other harassment complaints. Sexual harassment claims must be elevated within 72 hours and the investigation should happen within 14 days with a final report due within 20 days. Sexual harassment complaints that involve sexual assault must also be reported to a sexual assault response coordinator (SARC). For other types of harassment, individuals can choose to make an informal or formal complaint about the situation. Informal complaints should be addressed at the lowest appropriate level for resolution. Informal complaints do not need to follow the same procedures for resolution as formal complaints, but they do need to be included in the data reporting required by DoDI 1020.03, which includes demographic information of those involved as well as detailed information about the incident. Formal complaints must be sent to a superior officer within five days and the investigation must start within that time period. The formal investigation should be completed within 30 days, and the final report should be turned in within 36 days of the original complaint. All harassment complaints also need to be reviewed to ensure that legal requirements are met, especially if the harassment could be considered unlawful or criminal.

Response Considerations Per Branch

Harassment response and structure vary across the branches. A brief overview for each branch is discussed below.

Air Force

The Air Force recently updated their policy so that sexual harassment claims and sexual assault claims are processed through the same office with access to the same resources (Cohen, 2022). Prior to this change, sexual harassment reports were funneled through the EO program, which limited the support and complicated the process for dealing with perpetrators (Cohen, 2022). Reporting through the Sexual Assault Prevention and Response Office (SAPRO) allows members access to victim advocacy services (Cohen, 2022). Additionally, the Air Force is piloting a program that combines the resources for stalking, domestic abuse, cyberbullying, and sexual assault/harassment called the "Integrated Response Co-location Pilot Program" (Novelly, 2022). This program, which started in August 2022, is designed to make the reporting process more streamlined and provide higher quality victim advocacy services.

Army

The Sexual Harassment/Assault Response and Prevention (SHARP) Program "provides commanders with the tools to prevent sexual assault, sexual harassment, and associated retaliation in the Army" and "ensures that the Army is able to provide professional, compassionate, and comprehensive care and support to victims if these incidents do occur" (U.S. Army, 2021). Services include online reporting and a sexual harassment and assault prevention annex (U.S. Army, 2021).

Coast Guard

The Coast Guard recently faced a national probe, where it was found that the Coast Guard was not adequately addressing complaints of harassment, bullying, and retaliation (Bergman, 2019). As a result, Master Chief Petty Officer Jeremiah Wolf of the Coast Guard

(2020) released a statement saying, "The Coast Guard is steadfast and enduring in this commitment build a culture where women and men at all levels of our organization feel empowered to stop harassing behaviors." A list of resources is available on their website, which can be found in the references (U.S. Coast Guard, n.d.).

Marine Corps

According to Corporal Francesca Landis (2021), "one of Marines' most important responsibilities is to look out for their brothers and sisters beside them." When someone comes forward with a concern about sexual assault or harassment, they are assigned a Sexual Assault Prevention Response Victim Advocate (SAPR VA), who helps support them through the process and the traumatic experience (Landis, 2021). Additionally, bystander intervention programs are in progress in the Marine Corps (Landis, 2021).

Navy

The Navy is committed to maintaining a work environment that is free of harassment and unlawful discrimination (MyNavy HR, 2023). The official U.S. Navy verbiage around preventing harassment revolves around leadership and the climate, saying, "Commanders and supervisors at every level must clearly communicate that harassment and prohibited discrimination will not be tolerated and must reinforce, through both words and actions, a climate that does not condone this behavior" (MyNavy HR, 2023).

Impact on Targets

Research shows that sexual harassment can have negative outcomes for those who are targets. For example, Gradus et al. (2008) "found evidence of an association between sexual harassment and alcohol use among women" (p. 350). This association was not present among

the men in the study, suggesting that women may be at a greater risk of alcohol abuse following instances of sexual harassment (Gradus et al., 2008). Victims of harassment or mistreatment experience both an emotional toll and a reduced effectiveness in the workplace (Burns, 2022). Griffith (2019) found that soldiers who experience sexual harassment are at a higher risk of suicidal ideation or attempts. Furthermore, women who had experienced sexual harassment or assault were more likely to have depression, anxiety, and PTSD (C. L. Thomas et al., 2021). Findings on the impacts of sexual harassment and assault on the male population are limited (Millegan et al., 2016). Although fewer men are impacted overall, research indicates targets do experience negative physical and psychological outcomes. Millegan et al. (2016) found that "male military service members who experienced recent sexual trauma were more likely to report symptoms of PTSD, major depression, and poorer overall mental health" (p. 137).

Impacts on the Organization

The negative effects of harassment are not limited to personal health. Men who were targets of sexual harassment or assault were 60% more likely to prematurely depart from Service (Millegan et al., 2016). In a study of Black women who experienced harassment in the Service, almost half (44%) of Black women who reported harassment were dissatisfied with the complaint process and 25% were prompted to take steps to leave Service as a result of the harassment and response (Breslin et al., 2022). The risk of negative workplace outcomes might be facilitated by poor organizational response to harassment reports. Both targets of workplace mistreatment and bystanders to such behaviors or acts are more likely to leave an organization that does not adequately address concerns (Burns, 2022). Research from the DoD 2016 Workplace and Gender Relations survey found that when negative actions, such as being encouraged to "drop it" or punishment, follow a report of sexual harassment, there is increased

emotional distress felt by the target, which leads to a decrease in desire to stay in the Military among those who reported (Daniel et al., 2019). Conversely, when positive organizational actions, such as asking the offender to change their behavior or punitive action against the offender occurred, the target was less likely to experience emotional distress and less likely to consider leaving Service. As such, the actions of leaders to set the tone for response to sexual harassment are vital to supporting the target and promoting a climate where harassment is not tolerated.

Harassment Prevention

Due to the negative organizational outcomes associated with harassment, preventing harassment is vital to mission readiness, but it is a complicated issue requiring a multi-pronged approach. This section will discuss both bystander intervention programs, best practices in corporate industry, and considerations for harassment prevention in the military setting.

Prevention Models and Bystander Considerations

Harassment rarely happens in isolated environments; most of the time, there is at least one other person around to witness some of the troubling behaviors that take place to constitute harassment (Hamby et al., 2016; Planty, 2002; Moschella & Banyard, 2021). As such, studies of bystanders and bystander intervention are an important consideration of prevention. Bystanders can intervene when harassment is occurring. A multitude of studies have been conducted on what motivates bystanders to intervene and what actions and trainings can support future bystanders to intervene.

Civilian Bystander Considerations

It is likely that bystanders consider the consequences of intervening when witnessing harassment. Moschella and Banyard (2021) found that bystanders are more likely to intervene when they believe they will receive positive consequences from both the target and others. As such, bystanders may be more likely to intervene in an obvious instance of an unwanted harassment, e.g., sexual advance or a harassing comment, than in an ambiguous situation, e.g., a controlling partner, as it is unclear if the help will be desired (Moschella & Banyard, 2021). Research also shows that bystanders are more likely to intervene in a private context, as opposed to public, and to intervene in an online communication over an in-person interaction when the interaction happens on a social network forum (Bastiaensens et al., 2015). Given the rise of social media, these are important considerations to take into account for bystander trainings (Bastiaensens et al., 2015). There is also evidence to show that exposure to media that portrays harassment as normalized or acceptable reduces bystanders' willingness to intervene in real-life situations (Galdi et al., 2017). An individual's exposure to media cannot be controlled by an institution, but such concerns can be raised in training to help members understand and address lingering biases that might prevent them from intervening.

There is some evidence to show that bystander intervention in situations involving religious discrimination or harassment is less likely to occur than in situations of sexual harassment (Ghumman et al., 2016). Religious discrimination and harassment numbers are on the rise, with reports doubling from 1999 to 2014 (Ghumman et al., 2016). Training for prevention should include examples of different kinds of harassment, such as religious, so that individuals are aware of how harassment can manifest in different settings (Ghumman et al., 2016). Service members and leaders should be able to apply intervention strategies across all

types of harassment and other harmful behaviors. Examples of harassment scenarios are in the interventions appendix and can be modified as needed.

International research indicates that fear may be a motivating factor when bystanders consider their response to harassment. Hellemans et al. (2017) found that participants in Belgium were less likely to intervene when they did not have confidence to intervene or felt afraid to intervene. Similarly, researchers in Spain found that 40% of respondents did not respond to gender-based harassment situations because they were fearful of retaliation or negative reactions to them as active bystanders (Melgar et al., 2021). Gender can play a role in bystander intervention: a study in Italy showed that bystanders are more likely to intervene in cases involving women than those involving men (Spaccatini et al., 2022). Additionally, if a bystander views the target as at fault, due to clothing, behavior, etc., they are less likely to intervene (Spaccatini et al., 2022). However, that is not to say that men and women cannot be effective bystanders. A recent study showed that men and women are equally likely to intervene in a harassment situation if given the proper tools (Galdi et al., 2017).

A multinational study taking place in Australia, India, and Turkey found that bystanders did not intervene for two reasons: a power dynamic that could not be overcome, i.e., supervisors abusing power to mistreat employees, and fear that intervening would result in unfair treatment for the bystander (Paull et al., 2020). This fear could be mitigated by a workplace climate shift where reporting is encouraged and there is buy-in from others in the organization to support both bystanders and targets (Paull et al., 2020). Workplace climate is paramount to the success of bystanders; a study in Sweden found that intervention was more likely when workplace incivility was viewed as discriminatory rather than simply rude (Sinclair, 2021). When members are in an environment that they feel comfortable sharing concerns with colleagues about troublesome

interactions, organizational leaders are better positioned to identify patterns and address issue areas (Sinclair, 2021).

Bystander intervention training is shown to increase the intention to intervene, improve confidence about intervening, and show an increase in actual interventions (Dobbin & Kalev, 2019). A recent study by the Veterans Health Administration (VA) showed two main outcomes after a bystander intervention training: 1) Staff experienced less barriers to intervening and 2) staff members were more likely to recognize harassment when it occurred (Relyea et al., 2020). As such, bystander intervention programs have the capacity to increase the acknowledgement of problematic situations, including, but not limited to, harassment, and to provide the tools to deescalate them (Relyea et al., 2020).

Military Bystander Training and Considerations

Research on the U.S. Army's bystander intervention program indicates that almost half of the individuals surveyed, 46%, had seen a risky behavior, e.g., dangerous alcohol use, suicide risk, or sexual assault/harassment, in a two-month time period following the intervention training (Elliman et al., 2018). However, while over 90% of soldiers reported intervening in alcohol abuse or suicide attempt situations, only 50% intervened in a sexual harassment/assault scenario (Elliman et al., 2018). This indicates a need for increased emphasis on bystander intervention training for sexual harassment/assault situations. Of additional importance is the fact that members of junior enlisted rank (E1-E4) were twice as likely as higher ranking individuals to witness alcohol abuse or sexual harassment/assault scenarios (Elliman et al., 2018). Military leaders have an obligation to protect all members of their organization; as such, they should be aware of the increased risks for lower-ranking military members. Since this research focused only on the U.S. Army's bystander intervention program, and due to a relatively small sample

size, the results from this study are not generalizable. However, the results indicate bystander intervention programs should take into consideration the fact that there appears to be more comfort among members in addressing alcohol or suicide related situations than ones that involve sexual harassment (Elliman et al., 2018).

One key consideration in harassment prevention is the unique context of Military Service (Gidycz et al., 2018). In civilian employment, there is a clear delineation between what is considered to be the workplace and what is not, whereas the lines in a military establishment are much more blurred, especially when living and working in the same location (Gidycz et al., 2018). The Military has been referred to as "total institution," meaning that there is very little differentiation between the work environment and the personal environment (Gidycz et al., 2018; Griffith, 2019). As such, "leadership plays a critical role in setting norms and expectations that create a climate characterized by respect and professionalism or one in which sexism, sexual aggression, and other forms of misconduct are tolerated" (Gidycz et al., 2018, p. 244). Given the positive relationship between sexual harassment and sexual assault and rape, noticing and correcting such misconduct early can lead to lowered risk of sexual assault and trauma for individuals at risk (Gidycz et al., 2018).

A recent study on the SHARP program in the Army showed a few additional considerations for preventing harassment and assault (Skopp et al., 2020). Such considerations included modifying the physical environment on the barracks such that dimly lit areas were reduced and encouraging members to set boundaries and not give in to peer pressure. Finally, soldiers themselves identified a desire and need for bystander training to feel more equipped to intervene in tough situations (Skopp et al., 2020).

Bystander intervention trainings exist in a number of different platforms. One such platform is Green Dot Training, which teaches bystanders the skills of the three D's: direct, delegate, distract (Edwards, n.d.; Vector Solutions, 2021). "Direct" involves doing or saying something to diffuse the situation in the moment, "delegate" requires the bystander to ask someone else to intervene, and "distract" means breaking up the situation through an action that diffuses the situation.

Ideally, when someone sees something happening, they can choose one of the D's to implement; with the alliterative component of small words, the hope is that these tools will be easy to remember and enact in a tense moment (Edwards, n.d.; Vector Solutions, 2021).

Afterwards, of course, the situation should be reported, especially in a military context. Green Dot Training is only one form of bystander intervention training; other trainings could be used instead, as to best fit the needs of the DoD. Should Green Dot training be determined the best route, information on interventions and practice scenarios can be found in the intervention appendix.

Best Practices in Industry

Unfortunately, information on harassment prevention programs effectiveness is scarce. However, research does indicate that prevention workshops increase awareness of what constitutes as sexual harassment (Campbell et al., 2013; Desplaces & Ogilvie, 2020), which is an important step in harassment prevention.

The Society for Human Resource Management (SHRM) publishes a number of articles and information about HR training, which includes harassment prevention training. A recent article (Wilkie, 2017) discusses how trainings can be the most effective and can be summarized by the following:

- Focus on changing behavior, not minds it does not matter if people think a behavior is
 acceptable, but they should know it will not be tolerated.
- Encourage or require the presence of higher leadership at trainings and include them as part of the training, if possible. They could give a testimonial or be part of a skit, but they should be seen as fully bought into the training and the purpose.
- Emphasize why the training is important and should not simply be about liability, but
 also about the potential impact on employees and the organization as well as
 consequences for harassment behaviors.
- Continue to provide space for conversations, mentorship, and training about harassment
 in an ongoing way. Once a year training is not enough to change a culture, so ensure that
 people feel both supported to come forward to report issues and that expectations about
 behavior continue to be clear and enforced.

Considerations for Preventing Harassment in the Military

A military leader's response to a harassment case dictates whether a Service member feels confident in the military response, which can impact how that member (and others who observe the interaction) feel about reporting and preventing harassment for the future. Studies from the early 2000s indicate that the reporting process impacts the experience of the target (Bell et al., 2014; Eliezer et al., 2020). Service members who were satisfied by the process and the response showed a lower likelihood of developing PTSD symptoms afterwards (Bell et al., 2014). Research indicates that men are less likely than women to be satisfied with the response to an allegation (Eliezer et al., 2020). Reporting processes have changed substantially since the early 2000s, but the fact that the process has an impact on the target afterwards underscores the importance of meaningful response to the incident in order to support the target and prevent

further emotional trauma. Thus, it is important to learn from the lessons of the past to ensure that policies and procedures are effective and do not have a deleterious impact on the well-being of targets.

Harassment prevention training on its own may not be enough to decrease harassment. It is likely that leadership plays an important role in decreasing workplace harassment. Department of Defense data from 2010 showed that creating a climate of respect decreases the likelihood of harassment in the workplace (Robotham & Cortina, 2021). A workplace climate of respect needs to state and show that the organization does not tolerate harassment and will respond accordingly, which goes above and beyond the typical training that is provided to prevent harassment (Robotham & Cortina, 2021). Leaders in the Military can accomplish this by ensuring that all individuals are treated fairly and that productivity is not valued over the treatment of others (Robotham & Cortina, 2021).

Similarly, Daniel et al. (2022) found that racial/ethnic harassment and discrimination is less likely to happen in climates where supervisors pay attention to such behaviors and workplace hostility is not tolerated. As such, "the tone from leaders may be one of the most important, though not only, ways to decrease racial/ethnic harassment and discrimination" (Daniel et al., 2022, p. 11). Leadership commitment to diversity and inclusion efforts, including making reasonable and honest efforts to stop discrimination, is imperative to successfully changing the climate (Daniel et al., 2022). Rubino et al. (2018) found that a justice-oriented climate, one where individuals felt that everyone was treated fairly, resulted in a decrease in harassment, meaning that an overall climate shift, even without specific harassment training, can result in better well-being and less harassment for everyone. Inclusive leadership, which involves promoting individuality and belonging for all individuals, such that everyone in the

space feels respected as their authentic selves, is also associated with lower rates of harassment and more positive outcomes for workers (Perry et al., 2021).

Although the current review only covers harassment and not sexual assault, there is an important correlation between the two which should be briefly addressed. A recent study found that military women who had been sexually assaulted by an intimate partner were more likely to experience both harassment and stalking from that partner before or after the assault; this same group of women are also less likely, as a group, to be satisfied with the response from leadership addressing the issue and providing support (Eliezer et al., 2020). The issue of harassment is incredibly complex given the variables present, and leadership should try their best to tailor responses to each person according to the situation (Eliezer et al., 2020).

Training And Intervention Strategies

Training and intervention strategies for harassment prevention should take into account the information covered in this brief, as well as relevant literature on training effectiveness. For example, participants in harassment training at a VA hospital reported group discussions that involved problem solving, strategies for response, and practicing in a non-threatening environment were the most impactful and aspects of the training (Relyea et al., 2020). Army personnel involved in bystander intervention programs identified real-life scenarios, skits, role plays, and engaging facilitators as the most effective methods for teaching harassment prevention (Skopp et al., 2020). The modality of training may also impact training effectiveness. In-person engagement with training, while more expensive, has been shown to be more effective for long-term outcomes than videos or web-based trainings (Buchanan et al., 2014).

When it comes to scenarios and practice with interventions, it is important to include scenarios from a variety of situations in which bystander intervention might be necessary. As

discrimination comfort level in addressing certain situations, in the workplace may be overlooked or ignored by bystanders; thus, bystander intervention trainings should cover a wide array of scenarios. These skills are easily transferrable to many different situations; as such, using scenarios that may not qualify as harassment can still serve to illustrate effective application of intervention strategies. At a minimum, discriminatory and sexual harassment, hazing, bullying, and stalking should be covered. G. F. Thomas et al. (2022) provided training scenarios for what they refer to as "gray zone" situations. In these situations, behaviors are not illegal or necessarily against policy, but are still inappropriate and could escalate into more severe forms of harassment or even assault. Gray zone scenarios are included in the intervention appendix and should be considered for training since those behaviors may escalate further inappropriate behavior. In scenario-based training, the focus should be on communicating that people need to change their behavior and not necessarily on changing the attitude around the behavior, as the attitude may not be easily changed (Wilkie, 2017).

The leadership of an organization has the power to truly change its culture. Thus, training for senior leaders in the Service should also focus on how the response to harassment should be handled to make targets feel supported and bystanders empowered. Multiple studies point to the important role that leadership plays in setting the tone and climate of culture around the permissibility of any form of harassment (Robotham & Cortina, 2021; Buchanan et al., 2014; Daniel et al., 2022; Eliezer et al., 2020; Gidycz et al., 2018; Griffith & Medeiros, 2020). Setting norms and expectations that make it clear harassment will not be tolerated is an important responsibility of a leader (Gidycz et al., 2018). Seeing as many people learn acceptable attitudes

and behavior through observing others (Bandura, 1977), it is important for leaders to exhibit fair treatment of employees and hold employees accountable for their conduct (Brown et al., 2005).

In addition to setting expectations and modeling desired behaviors, Perry et al. (2021) suggest that promoting individuality and belonging for individuals results in lower rates of harassment and more positive outcomes. Doing so is thus a key step towards changing the climate to prevent discrimination and harassment (Daniel et al., 2022). As such, leaders in the Military must be careful to not only model respect and inclusivity, but also ensure that any behavior to the contrary is addressed promptly in a way tailored to the situation that prevents it from recurring in the future.

Another way leaders can show support is through their interactions with targets and bystanders who speak up. Rather than using annual training that has proven to be ineffective (Roehling & Huang, 2018), leaders should be trained to be more prepared to address sexual assault. Making an active effort to eliminate myths about sexual assault can help targets to feel more satisfied and supported with said responses (Eliezer et al., 2020). Research suggests that if a response is seen as negative or unsupportive, there is a higher chance of Service members leaving prematurely (Breslin et al., 2022; Burns, 2022; Daniel et al., 2019; Millegan et al., 2016). The attitude from leadership must be one that promotes inclusivity and discourages poor behavior.

Attributes of a transformational leader, which refers to "the leader moving the follower beyond immediate self-interests through idealized influence, inspiration intellectual stimulation, or individualized consideration" (Bass, 1999), have been said to decrease harassment in the workplace. Stressful work environments (Balducci et al., 2012) and poor conflict management skills (Baillien et al., 2011) are related to workplace harassment. Therefore, leaders are essential

in supporting their employees to diminish added stressors and decrease interpersonal conflict (Bass & Riggio, 2006). Additionally, leaders should attempt to encourage a sense of shared team spirit amongst employees (Bass & Riggio, 2006). Exemplifying these attributes is one step in preventing harassment in the workplace.

Each form of harassment can have differing causes, thus requiring different solutions.

For example, Eliezer et al. (2020) suggest implementing bystander and alcohol interventions for sexual assaults, whereas Daniel et al. (2022) suggest targeting workplace harassment directly and promoting civility amongst employees as a means of targeting discriminatory harassment.

Other research has suggested that having a focus on building inclusive environments (Daniel et al., 2022) and teaching leaders about their importance in fostering these environments is a way to prevent harassment. Additionally, it has been reported that performance appraisal systems and multi-rater feedback can tell leaders what they are doing well and what they may need training on to address harassment more effectively (Perry et al., 2021).

While there is not a one-size-fits-all solution to response and prevention of harassment, leaders are one of the first lines of defense in preventing harassment. Leaders need training and feedback to know what they are lacking skills in, while employees need training on bystander and alcohol interventions. Environments need to be inclusive and feedback should be encouraged to help prevent and hopefully end workplace harassment.

References

- Alexander, K., & Opsal, T. (2021). "That's just what you do": Applying the techniques of neutralization to college hazing. *Deviant Behavior*, 42(10), 1295–1312. https://doi.org/10.1080/01639625.2020.1738649
- Allan, E., & Madden, M. (2008). *Hazing in view: College students at risk*. National Collaborative for Hazing Research and Prevention.

 https://www.uc.edu/content/dam/uc/greeklife/documents/hazing in view web.pdf
- Baillien, E., Notelaers, G., De Witte, H., & Matthiesen, S. B. (2011). The relationship between the work unit's conflict management styles and bullying at work: Moderation by conflict frequency. *Economic and Industrial Democracy*, *32*(3), 401–419. https://doi.org/10.1177/0143831X10377929
- Balducci, C., Cecchin, M., & Fraccaroli, F. (2012). The impact of role stressors on workplace bullying in both victims and perpetrators, controlling for personal vulnerability factors: A longitudinal analysis. *Work & Stress*, 26(3), 195–212. https://doi.org/10.1080/02678373.2012.714543
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-Efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change.

 *Psychological Review, 84(2), 191–215. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191
- Bass, B. M. (1999). Two decades of research and development in transformational leadership. *European journal of work and organizational psychology*, 8(1), 9–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/135943299398410
- Bass, B. M., & Riggio, R. E. (2006). *Transformational leadership* (2nd ed.). Psychology Press. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781410617095

- Bastiaensens, S., Vandebosch, H., Poels, K., Van Cleemput, K., DeSmet, A., & De Bourdeaudhuij, I. (2015). "Can I afford to help?" How affordances of communication modalities guide bystanders' helping intentions towards harassment on social network sites. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 34(4), 425–435. https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X.2014.983979
- Becton, J. B., Gilstrap, J. B., & Forsyth, M. (2017). Preventing and correcting workplace harassment: Guidelines for employers. *Business Horizons*, 60(1), 101–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2016.09.005
- Bell, M. E., Street, A. E., & Stafford, J. (2014). Victims' psychosocial well-being after reporting sexual harassment in the military. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 15(2), 133–152. https://doi.org/10.1080/15299732.2014.867563
- Bergman, J. (2019, December 30). Coast Guard, Congress still working to address bullying and harassment, officials say. American Military News.

 https://americanmilitarynews.com/2019/12/coast-guard-congress-still-working-to-address-bullying-and-harassment-officials-say/
- Brown, M. E., Treviño, L. K., & Harrison, D. A. (2005). Ethical leadership: A social learning perspective for construct development and testing. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 97(2), 117–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2005.03.002
- Buchanan, N. T., Settles, I. H., Hall, A. T., & O'Connor, R. C. (2014). A review of organizational strategies for reducing sexual harassment: Insights from the U.S. Military. *Journal of Social Issues*, 70(4), 687–702. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12086
- Black, M., & Merrick, M. (2013). Prevalence of intimate partner violence, stalking and sexual violence among active duty women and wives of active duty men-comparisons with

- women in the U.S. general population, 2010. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://apps.dtic.mil/dtic/tr/fulltext/u2/a582205.pdf
- Breslin, R. A., Daniel, S., & Hylton, K. (2022). Black women in the military: Prevalence, characteristics, and correlates of sexual harassment. *Public Administration Review*, 82(3), 410–419. https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.13464
- Burns, S. T. (2022). Workplace mistreatment for US women: Best practices for counselors.

 Humanities & Social Sciences Communications, 9(1), 1–13.

 https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-022-01154-z
- Campbell, C., Kramer, A., Woolman, K., Staecker, E., Visker, J., & Cox, C. (2013). Effects of a brief pilot sexual harassment prevention workshop on employees' knowledge. *AAOHN Journal*, *61*(10), 425–428. https://doi.org/10.1177/216507991306101002
- Cassino, D., & Besen-Cassino, Y. (2019). Race, threat and workplace sexual harassment: The dynamics of harassment in the United States, 1997–2016. *Gender, Work, and Organization*, 26(9), 1221–1240. https://doi.org/10.1111/gwao.12394
- Clare, R., Lawhead, A., Dahl, J., Klahr, A., Schreiner, J., Moore, A., Neria, A., McGrath, D., Murray, C., Peebles, H., Trump-Steele, R., Hylton, K., Harcey, S., Vega, R., Tuskeviciute, R., Tercha, J., Barry, A., Owen, B., & Mirani, K. (2021). *Defense Organizational Climate Survey* (DEOCS) *redesign: Phase 1 overview report* (OPA Report No. 2021-158). Office of People Analytics. https://www.opa.mil/research-analysis/quality-of-work-life/workplace-climate/defense-organizational-climate-survey-deocs-redesign-phase-1-overview-report/

- Cohen, R. (2022, October 19). New Air Force policy claims to better handle sexual harassment claims. Air Force Times. https://www.airforcetimes.com/news/your-air-force/2022/10/19/new-air-force-policy-aims-to-better-handle-sexual-harassment-claims/
- Daniel, S., McKeever, B., Breslin, R., Ashlea, K., & Brown, S. E. V. (2022). Diversity, equity, and inclusion correlates of racial/ethnic harassment and discrimination in the U.S.

 Military. *Military Psychology*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/08995605.2022.2139122
- Daniel, S., Neria, A., Moore, A., & Davis, E. (2019). The impact of leadership responses to sexual harassment and gender discrimination reports on emotional distress and retention intentions in military members. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 20(3), 357–372. https://doi.org/10.1080/15299732.2019.1571887
- Desplaces, D., & Ogilvie, J. (2020). Scenario-based training for sexual harassment prevention.

 *Journal of Behavioral and Applied Management, 20(2), 69–84.

 https://doi.org/10.21818/001c.14180
- Dobbin, F., & Kalev, A. (2019). The promise and peril of sexual harassment programs.

 *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 116(25), 12255–12260.

 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1818477116
- Edwards, D. (n.d.). *Prevention Programming Matrix*. Culture of Respect. https://cultureofrespect.org/program/green-dot/
- Eliezer, D., Hilbert, A. J., Davis, L. H., Hylton, K., Klauberg, W. X., Hurley, M. M., Gitlin, Z. J., Dyches, K. D., & Galbreath, N. W. (2020). Sexual assault experiences vary for active duty military women depending on their relationship to the perpetrator. *Journal of Family Violence*, 35(4), 325–338. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-019-00085-9

- Elliman, T. D., Shannahoff, M. E., Metzler, J. N., & Toblin, R. L. (2018). Prevalence of bystander intervention opportunities and behaviors among U.S. Army soldiers. *Health Education & Behavior*, 45(5), 741–747. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198117752788
- Farmer, B. (2016). Perceptions of hazing and bullying among U.S. military Service members (Technical Report No. 1816). Defense Equal Opportunity Management Institute. https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/pdfs/AD1018915.pdf
- Galdi, S., Maass, A., & Cadinu, M. (2017). Defending the victim of sexual harassment: The influence of civil courage and media exposure. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 41(3), 338–351. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684317709770
- Ghumman, S., Ryan, A. M., & Park, J. S. (2016). Religious harassment in the workplace: An examination of observer intervention. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *37*(2), 279–306. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2044
- Gidycz, C. A., Wyatt, J., Galbreath, N. W., Axelrad, S. H., & McCone, D. R. (2018). Sexual assault prevention in the military: Key issues and recommendations. *Military Psychology*, *30*(3), 240–251. https://doi.org/10.1080/08995605.2018.1489663
- Google. (n.d.). Policy on harassment, discrimination, retaliation, standards of conduct, and workplace concerns.
 - $https://services.google.com/fh/files/blogs/policy_workplace_concerns.pdf$
- Gradus, J. L., Street, A. E., Kelly, K., & Stafford, J. (2008). Sexual harassment experiences and harmful alcohol use in a military sample: Differences in gender and the mediating role of depression. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 69(3), 348–351. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2008.69.348

- Griffith, J. (2019). The sexual harassment–suicide connection in the U.S. Military: Contextual effects of hostile work environment and trusted unit leaders. *Suicide & Life-Threatening Behavior*, 49(1), 41–53. https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12401
- Griffith, J. A., & Medeiros, K. E. (2020). Expanding the footprint of sexual harassment prevention training: A power, credit, and leadership perspective. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, *13*(2), 137–141. https://doi.org/10.1017/iop.2020.26
- Hamby, S., Weber, M. C., Grych, J., & Banyard, V. L. (2016). What difference do bystanders make? The association of victim outcomes with bystander involvement in a community sample. *Psychology of Violence*, 6(1), 91–102. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0039073
- Hardies, K. (2019). Personality, social norms, and sexual harassment in the workplace.

 *Personality and Individual Differences, 151, Article 109496, 1–5.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2019.07.006
- Hellemans, C., Dal Cason, D., & Casini, A. (2017). Bystander helping behavior in response to workplace bullying. *Swiss Journal of Psychology*, 76(4), 135–144. https://doi.org/10.1024/1421-0185/a000200
- Hodge Seck, H. (2021, February 7). *Nearly 90% of military hazing complaints come from the Marine Corps, data shows*. Military.com. https://www.military.com/daily-news/2021/02/07/nearly-90-of-military-hazing-complaints-come-marine-corps-data-shows.html
- Kim, J., Kim, J., & Park, S. (2019). Military hazing and suicidal ideation among active duty military personnel: Serial mediation effects of anger and depressive symptoms. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 256, 79–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2019.05.060

- Landis, F. (2021, April 5). Sexual assault prevention response what the program is all about.

 U.S. Marine Corps. https://www.marines.mil/News/News
 Display/Article/2561090/sexual-assault-prevention-response-what-the-program-is-all-about/
- Larsen, S. E., Nye, C. D., & Fitzgerald, L. F. (2019). Sexual harassment expanded: An examination of the relationships among sexual harassment, sex discrimination, and aggression in the workplace. *Military Psychology*, *31*(1), 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/08995605.2018.1526526
- Lloyd, C. (2021, January 12). *One in four black workers report discrimination at work*. Gallup. https://news.gallup.com/poll/328394/one-four-black-workers-report-discriminationwork.aspx
- Melgar, P., Geis, G., Flecha, R., & Soler, M. (2021). Fear to retaliation: The most frequent reason for not helping victims of gender violence. *RIMCIS: International and Multidisciplinary Journal of Social Sciences*, 10(2), 31–50. https://doi.org/10.17583/rimcis.2021.8305
- Millegan, J., Wang, L., LeardMann, C., Miletich, D., & Street, A. E. (2016). Sexual trauma and adverse health and occupational outcomes among men serving in the U.S. Military.

 **Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 29(2), 132–140. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.22081
- Morgan, R., & Truman, J. (2019). *Stalking Victimization, 2019*. Bureau of Justice Statistics. https://bjs.ojp.gov/content/pub/pdf/sv19.pdf
- Moschella, E. A., & Banyard, V. L. (2021). Action and reaction: The impact of consequences of intervening in situations of interpersonal violence. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 36(7–8), 3820–3843. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260518782983

- Munro, C. E., & Phillips, A. W. (2020). Bullying in the workplace. *Surgery*, *38*(10), 653–658. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mpsur.2020.07.012
- MyNavy HR. (2023, April 16). Navy harassment prevention and military equal opportunity.

 U.S. Navy. https://www.mynavyhr.navy.mil/Support-Services/Culture-Resilience/Equal-Opportunity/
- Namie, G. (2021). 2021 WBI U.S. workplace bullying survey. Workplace Bullying Institute. https://workplacebullying.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/2021-Full-Report.pdf
- Ng, K., Niven, K., & Hoel, H. (2020). 'I could help, but . . .': A dynamic sensemaking model of workplace bullying bystanders. *Human Relations*, 73(12), 1718–1746. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726719884617
- Novelly, T. (2022, August 8). *Air Force launches program to help sexual assault, harassment survivors at 7 bases*. Military.com. https://www.military.com/daily-news/2022/08/08/air-force-launches-program-help-sexual-assault-harassment-survivors-7-bases.html
- Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness. (2020a, December 29).

 **Harassment prevention and response in the Armed Forces* (DoD Instruction 1020.03).

 https://www.esd.whs.mil/Portals/54/Documents/DD/issuances/dodi/102003p.PDF
- Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness. (2020b, June 30).

 Harassment prevention and responses for DoD civilian employees (DoD Instruction 1020.04).
 - https://www.esd.whs.mil/Portals/54/Documents/DD/issuances/dodi/102004p.pdf
- Paull, M., Omari, M., D'Cruz, P., & Güneri Çangarli, B. (2020). Bystanders in workplace bullying: Working university students' perspectives on action versus inaction. *Asia*

- Pacific Journal of Human Resources, 58(3), 313–334. https://doi.org/10.1111/1744-7941.12216
- Perry, E. L., Block, C. J., & Noumair, D. A. (2021). Leading in: Inclusive leadership, inclusive climates and sexual harassment. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, 40(4), 430–447. https://doi.org/10.1108/EDI-04-2019-0120
- Planty, M. (2002). *Third-party involvement in violent crime, 1993–1999* (Bureau of Justice Statistics Special Report). U.S. Department of Justice.

 https://bjs.ojp.gov/library/publications/third-party-involvement-violent-crime-1993-99
- Raj, A., Johns, N., & Jose, R. (2021). Racial/ethnic disparities in sexual harassment in the United States, 2018. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *36*(15–16), 8268–8289. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260519842171
- Relyea, M. R., Portnoy, G. A., Klap, R., Yano, E. M., Fodor, A., Keith, J. A., Driver, J. A., Brandt, C. A., Haskell, S. G., & Adams, L. (2020). Evaluating bystander intervention training to address patient harassment at the Veterans Health Administration. *Women's Health Issues*, 30(5), 320–329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2020.06.006
- Robotham, K., & Cortina, L. (2021). Promoting respect as a solution to workplace harassment. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, 40(4), 410–429. https://doi.org/10.1108/EDI-04-2019-0137
- Roehling, M. V., & Huang, J. (2018). Sexual harassment training effectiveness: An interdisciplinary review and call for research. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 39(2), 134–150. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2257
- Rubino, C., Avery, D. R., McKay, P. F., Moore, B. L., Wilson, D. C., Driel, M. S., Witt, L. A., & McDonald, D. P. (2018). And justice for all: How organizational justice climate deters

- sexual harassment. *Personnel Psychology*, 71(4), 519–544. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12274
- Salin, D., Cowan, R. L., Adewumi, O., Apospori, E., Bochantin, J., D'Cruz, P., Djurkovic, N., Durniat, K., Escartín, J., Guo, J., Işik, I., Koeszegi, S. T., McCormack, D., Inés Monserrat, S., Olivas-Luján, M. R., & Zedlacher, E. (2020). Prevention of and interventions in workplace bullying: A global study of human resource professionals' reflections on preferred action. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 31(20), 2622–2644. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2018.1460857
- Schuyler, A. C., Klemmer, C., Mamey, M. R., Schrager, S. M., Goldbach, J. T., Holloway, I. W., & Castro, C. A. (2020). Experiences of sexual harassment, stalking, and sexual assault during military service among LGBT and non-LGBT Service members. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 33(3), 257–266. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.22506
- Sears, B., Mallory, C., Flores, A. R., Conron, K. J. (2021, September). *LGBT people's experiences of workplace discrimination and harassment*. Williams Institute. https://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/publications/lgbt-workplace-discrimination/
- Sheridan, L., Blaauw, E., & Davies, G. (2003). Stalking: Knowns and unknowns. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 4*(2) 148–162. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838002250766
- Sinclair, S. (2021). Bystander reactions to workplace incivility: The role of gender and discrimination claims. *Europe's Journal of Psychology*, *17*(1), 134–144. https://doi.org/10.5964/ejop.1675
- Skopp, N. A., Roggenkamp, H., Hoyt, T. V., Major, H. M., & Williams, T. J. (2020). Army Sexual Harassment/Sexual Assault Response & Prevention Program (SHARP) Tiger

- Team: A model to inform prevention. *Military Behavioral Health*, *8*(1), 64–73. https://doi.org/10.1080/21635781.2019.1670763
- Spaccatini, F., Pacilli, M. G., Pagliaro, S., & Giovannelli, I. (2022). Victim blaming 2.0:

 Blaming sexualized victims of online harassment lowers bystanders' helping intentions.

 Current Psychology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-022-02884-8
- Spiliopoulou, A., & Witcomb, G. L. (2022). An exploratory investigation into women's experience of sexual harassment in the workplace. *Violence Against Women*, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1177/10778012221114921
- Stuart, J., & Szeszeran, N. (2021). Bullying in the Military: A review of the research on predictors and outcomes of bullying victimization and perpetration. *Military Behavioral Health*, 9(3), 255–266. https://doi.org/10.1080/21635781.2020.1864527
- Taylor, B. G., Maitra, P., Mumford, E., & Liu, W. (2022). Sexual harassment of law enforcement officers: Findings from a nationally representative survey. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 37(11–12), 8454–8478. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260520978180
- Thomas, B. J., Cimino, A., & Meglich, P. (2021). Workplace hazing: Toward an organizational science of a cryptic group practice. *Group & Organization Management*, 46(2), 286–326. https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601121992893
- Thomas, C. L., Nieh, C., Hooper, T. I., Gackstetter, G. D., LeardMann, C. A., Porter, B., & Blazer, D. G. (2021). Sexual harassment, sexual assault, and physical activity among U.S. Military Service members in the millennium cohort study. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *36*(15–16), 7043–7066. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260519832904

- Thomas, G. F., Gibbons, D. E., & Baho, S. M. (2022). Prevention is better than the cure: The development of gray-zone situational judgment tests to deter sex and gender discrimination. *Military Behavioral Health*, 10(4), 368–378. https://doi.org/10.1080/21635781.2022.2026848
- U.S. Army. (2021, April 9). Army Sexual Harassment/Assault Prevention and Response (SHARP) Program.
 https://www.army.mil/article/245382/army_sexual_harassmentassault_response_and_prevention_sharp_program
- U.S. Coast Guard. (n.d.). *Civil Rights*. Retrieved May 5, 2023, from https://www.uscg.mil/Resources/Civil-Rights/
- U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. (n.d.) *Harassment*. https://www.eeoc.gov/harassment
- U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. (2022, April). Sexual Harassment in Our Nation's Workplace. https://www.eeoc.gov/data/sexual-harassment-our-nations-workplaces
- USLegal. (n.d.). *Harassment law and legal definition*. Retrieved January 19, 2023, from https://definitions.uslegal.com/h/harassment/
- Vector Solutions. (2021, July 13). *The three D's to bystander intervention on campus*. https://www.vectorsolutions.com/resources/blogs/the-3-ds-to-bystander-intervention-on-campus/
- Wells Fargo. (2022, August). *Wells Fargo Employee Handbook*. https://teamworks.wellsfargo.com/handbook/HB_Online.pdf

- Wilkie, D. (2017, July 19). When HR gets it wrong: Training that doesn't work. The Society for Human Resource Management. https://www.shrm.org/ResourcesAndTools/hrtopics/employee-relations/Pages/HR-Gets-it-Wrong-3-.aspx
- Wolf, J. (2020, November 12). Stronger together Update to anti-harassment and hate incident procedure. United States Coast Guard.

https://www.mycg.uscg.mil/News/Article/2412843/stronger-together-update-to-anti-harassment-and-hate-incident-procedure/

Appendix: Interventions

PRIOR TO ANY AND ALL USE OF THE ACTIVITIES IN THIS APPENDIX, PLEASE

VERIFY THAT AUTHOR/OWNER PERMISSION IS OBTAINED WHERE NEEDED AND

THAT USE OF THE MATERIALS DOES NOT RESULT IN COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT.

Green Dot Bystander Training (Edwards, n.d.; Vector Solutions, 2021)

Green Dot Training is likely under copyright and requires a certified facilitator to do trainings (see https://alteristic.org/services/green-dot/). However, the premise of Green Dot training is easy enough to replicate – it simply involves giving people different ways to respond to a concerning situation. Even without using the three D's, scenarios could be developed that have multiple different ways to respond, and individuals at the training should practice each one in a low-risk environment until they feel capable of responding in a real-life situation. Situations for consideration in bystander training are laid out in the next section and the two sections should be incorporated together.

- Direct: saying or doing something to diffuse the situation in the moment
- Delegate: asking someone else to intervene, potentially someone with more power or confidence to do so
- Distract: breaking up the situation by taking an action, such as redirecting focus to themselves

Scenarios for Different Types of Harassment

In order to ensure that leaders are aware of what different types of harassment can look like, the training should focus roughly 50% of its time on recognizing and responding to harassment scenarios. When leadership can demonstrate effective responses to such situations, it

gives others courage and responsibility to do so as well. Examples below should be tweaked as needed to match the appropriate language and be believable as military scenarios.

Discriminatory Harassment

Examples of discriminatory harassment should include scenarios involving religion, race, ethnicity, and sexuality. Examples are below, but should be tweaked as needed:

- 1. Your coworker wears a hijab every day. Another coworker constantly makes remarks about it, asking "why do you keep wearing that?" and "doesn't that mean that women aren't equal in your country?" The remarks clearly make your coworker uncomfortable. What can you do? Are you required to do anything?
- 2. You are at the barracks after your shift and you hear someone refer to someone else as the f-word slur. You look over and see your colleague looking angry as someone else tells them to "calm down" and that "it was just a joke." What can you do? Are you required to do anything?
- 3. One of the members in your unit asks for a meeting with you. They tell you that their commanding officer denied their promotion and they are upset. When questioned about the circumstances, the member says that they have heard this officer is racist and has never promoted a Black person in their career. What can or should you do? Are you required to do anything?

Sexual Harassment

The following scenario is taken from G. F. Thomas et al. (2022) in their work about gray-zone behaviors, which are seemingly innocuous but could turn into more sinister behavior. This one particularly relates to sexual harassment:

You've been an LPO [leading petty officer] for two years now. During a weekly uniform inspection, you notice that a new male LPO colleague gives you a wink and says to the female E-3 standing in line for inspection, "Wow, love your new haircut." You feel this behavior is unprofessional. What would you do? (p. 370).

Other similar situations could be developed as well.

Hazing

An example of hazing is below, which should be changed as needed:

It's a tradition in your unit to make new people run around the compound naked without being caught. The new person does not know that members of the unit are always one step ahead to make sure they do not get caught. A new person joined last week and you have been put in charge of organizing the ritual. How do you go about doing so?

Bullying

Examples of bullying may look different depending on the unit involved. An example is below and should be changed as needed:

You are new to the unit and the officer in charge asks you to get them a coffee.

Inadvertently, you get the order wrong and the officer berates you in front of everyone, calling you "stupid" and "unable to complete even the simplest task." You brush it off as them having a bad day, but something similar happens two days later and then again the next week. What do you do?

Stalking

Keep in mind traditional stalking and stalking with technology are both relevant here. An example of each scenario is below. Examples of stalking behavior as highlighted on the supplemental victimization survey, a nationwide survey administered by the U.S. Department of Justice (Morgan & Truman, 2019), are below:

Traditional Stalking:

- Following and watching
- Sneaking into a place
- Waiting at a place
- Showing up at a place
- Leaving or sending unwanted items
- Bothering friends and/or family about a victim's whereabouts

Stalking with Technology:

- Making unwanted phone calls, leaving voice messages or sending texts
- Spying using technology
- Tracking the victim's whereabouts with an application or tracking device
- Posting or threatening to post unwanted information on the internet
- Monitoring activities using social media

Examples:

Your friend tells you that they are being followed by their ex-partner, who is also a member of the Service. Your friend has received flowers and stuffed animals, sometimes sent to the office, and the ex has shown up randomly after work to "check in." Your friend is pretty sure

the ex has a set of keys to their apartment and is getting worried about them randomly showing up. How do you respond to this situation?

A friend tells you that they can't believe their partner is being so difficult. The partner "tried" to break up with the friend, but the friend didn't take no for an answer because "that's not what the partner really wants." They vent to you about how the partner is constantly out at the bars, which they know because they put a GPS app on their car. Your friend makes a remark about how the partner isn't answering phone calls or texts "yet" but they will when they hear about the dirt your friend has on them. How do you respond to your friend and what, if anything, do you do next?

Other Concerning Behavior

Bystander intervention programs may also choose to cover dangerous behavior, such as alcohol use, suicide ideation, self-harm, or domestic abuse, which are not covered under the umbrella of harassment. Given that some soldiers have demonstrated more comfort in responding to those scenarios (Elliman et al., 2018), it might be worthwhile to start the training with those to break the ice. However, keep in mind that such responses are not defined as harassment prevention.

Practicing Inclusive Leadership at the Top

Given the imperative for leaders to emulate inclusivity and a harassment-free environment, roughly 50% of the training should focus on giving leaders space to reflect on their current commands and the environment they wish to build as a harassment-free space.

Discussion

The following are example discussion questions for this section:

Have you seen any concerning behavior in your unit that you wish to change? If so, how could you go about implementing change?

How do you personally respond to allegations of harassment? What is your gut reaction/instinct when a situation comes up? How do you work through those emotions to provide the best support possible?

Scenarios

Potential role plays about responding to allegations could be considered here, depending on the amount of Agency leaders have over such responses. Additionally, this could be a time for leaders to develop speeches, skits, or role plays to demonstrate the commitment to antiharassment to those in their command.

For example, leaders should be given the opportunity to practice responding to someone who is upset about behavior they have experienced. How can they respond to an allegation with empathy while also remaining neutral before the investigation is complete?